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	CECILIA C. PREZIOSE, 

                          Employee, 

                                             Applicant,

                                                   v. 

FAMILY MEDICAL & 

DENTAL CENTER,

                          Employer,

                                                   and 

REPUBLIC INDEMNITY CO 

OF AMERICA,

                          Insurer,

                                             Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200720999M, 200803008
AWCB Decision No.  09-0092
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on May 13, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s workers’ compensation claim on March 18, 2009, at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Steven Constantino, Law Offices of Steven Constantino, represented the employee.   Attorney Erin Egan, Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski, represented the employer and insurer.  The record remained open until March 20, 2009, to allow the Employer an opportunity to review and respond to the Employee’s Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s fees and costs.  The Employer did not file an opposition.  The record closed on April 1, 2009, when the Board next met to deliberate.  


ISSUES
1. Is the Employee’s claim barred by failure to provide timely notice of injury pursuant to 
AS 23.30.100?

2. Is the Employee entitled to a Compensation Rate Adjustment pursuant to AS 23.30.220?

3. Is the Employee entitled to medical benefits related to her left and right trigger thumbs pursuant to AS 23.30.095? 

4. Is the Employee entitled to time loss benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.185?

5. Did the Employer frivolously and unfairly controvert Employee’s claim for benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.182?

6. Is the Employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to AS 23.30.145?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. Procedural History
Cecilia Preziose, while working for Family Medical & Dental Center, filed a report of injury on January 20, 2008, for trigger thumb of her left hand and cited a date of injury of August 1, 2007.  The Report of Injury was received by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board on January 22, 2008, and assigned AWCB case number 200720999.
  Family Medical & Dental Center, Employer, and Republic Indemnity Co. of America, Insurer (“Employer”) denied liability on February 8, 2008, based on the January 31, 2008, Employer’s Independent Medical Evaluation (“EME”) report by Charles N.  Brooks, M.D., who stated that the probable cause of her stenosing tenosynovitis in left thumb was the same stenosing tenosynovitis previously experienced in the right wrist, which was not work related.
 

The employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim (“WCC”) dated March 3, 2008, seeking temporary total disability (TTD”) benefits from February 8 through release to work, medical costs, transportation costs, a compensation rate adjustment, and unfair or frivolous controvert for her left trigger thumb (date of injury August 1, 2007).
  The Employer answered her claim on March 19, 2008, denying all benefits sought on the basis of the EME opinion of Dr. Brooks dated January 31, 2008.
 The Employer also asserted the Employee's work was not the substantial cause of her injury or disability.
  The Employer controverted all benefits again on March 19, 2008, based on the EME report of Dr. Brooks.
 

The Employer filed an Amended Answer to Employee’s WCC on April 3, 2008.
  The employer also filed another controversion on the same day, relying again on Dr. Brooks’ opinion and adding a statute of limitations defense asserting the “claim may be barred under AS 23.30.100, AS 23.30 .105, AS 23.30.110(c), or otherwise barred by law or equity."

Steven Constantino, Esq., filed an Entry of Appearance
 on behalf of the employee on April 28, 2008, for both the left thumb (8/1/2007 date of injury) and the right thumb (2/1/2008 date of injury),   along with Amended WCCs in both cases seeking an SIME, interest, penalties, and attorney’s fees, in addition to the benefits previously sought by the employee.
  He also filed petitions for each injury requesting an SIME.

A prehearing was held on April 28, 2008, in the left thumb claim (AWCB 200720999) and was attended by Erica Adkins of Mr. Constantino’s office, the employee, Janice Knight, Executive Director of Family Medical & Dental Clinic, and Ms. Egan, Employer’s counsel.  The Employee listed her issues as TTD from 2/8/2008 through release by doctor, medical costs, transportation costs, unfair or frivolous controversion, compensation rate adjustment, penalty, interest, attorney’s fees, and SIME.  The Employer asserted its defenses as stated in its 3/19/2008 Answer, its 4/3/2008 Amended Answer (relying on, inter  alia, the statute of limitations defense and the EME report of Dr. Brooks), and its 4/3/2008 controversion (relying on, inter alia, the statute of limitations defense and the EME report of Dr. Brooks).

The Employer controverted all benefits related to the right trigger thumb (date of injury February 1, 2008) on May 1, 2008.
  The employer answered the Petitions for an SIME and the Amended WCCs on May 14, 2008. 
  The Employer agreed to the SIME and again asserted the statute of limitations defenses under AS 23.30.100, AS 23.30.105, AS 23.30.110(c), or as otherwise barred by law or equity.  

On June 4, 2008, another prehearing was held at which time the two claims were joined, and the parties stipulated to an SIME.  The Employee’s issues remained the same and the Employer added as defenses its 05/15/2008, Amended Answer to Employee’s 4/28/2008 WCC, and its 5/15/2008 Answer to Employee’s 04/28/2008, Petition for SIME.
  The right trigger thumb claim was controverted again on June 16, 2008, by the Employer asserting that the claim was barred by 
AS 23.30.100, AS 23.30.105, AS 23.30.110(c) or by law or equity and was not work related based on the EME report of Dr. Brooks dated April 25, 2008.

The employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing for both claims on October 20, 2008, along with a request to cross-examine Dr. Brooks.
  On October 22, 2008, the Employee filed an Affidavit of Filing and Service attaching statements from Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, Dr. McNamara, Alaska Surgery Center, and Chugach Anesthesia for the medical treatment and surgeries for both the right and left thumbs.
  The Employer opposed the Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing with an Affidavit of Opposition on October 31, 2008, contending it was necessary to take the depositions of the SIME physician and the EME physician.
  At the prehearing on December 1, 2008, the parties agreed to an oral hearing on March 18, 2009.
  For the left thumb, the Employee sought TTD from 2/8/2008 through 3/10/2008, medical costs, transportation costs, unfair or frivolous controversion, compensation rate, penalty, interest, and attorney’s fees.  For the right thumb the Employee sought TTD from 5/9/2008 through 6/6/2008, medical costs, transportation costs, penalty, interest, compensation rate, and attorney’s fees and costs.  The Employer listed its defenses as its 3/19/2008 Answer to Employee’s 3/3/2008 WCC, 4/3/2008 Amended Answer to Employee’s 3/3/2008 WCC, 4/3/2008 Controversion, 5/15/2008 Amended Answer to Employee’s 4/28/2008 WCC, 5/15/2008 Answer to Employee’s Petition for SIME, and 10/31/2008 Affidavit of Opposition to Employee’s 10/20/2008 Affidavit of Readiness.  

The Employee and the Employer filed their respective Witness Lists on February 19, 2009.
  Both parties filed hearing briefs timely and the Employee supplemented her brief at hearing with information and case citations in response to the Employer’s statute of limitations defense.  The Employee also filed an Affidavit 
and Supplemental Affidavit
 in support of her claim for attorney’s fees and costs.  The record was left open until March 20, 2009, to allow the Employer an opportunity to review the supplemental affidavit for attorney’s fees.  No opposition was received by the Board.

II. Medical History

The employee’s pertinent medical history begins when she saw Daniel M. Steward, M.D., on July 23, 2007, for right wrist pain which had been going on for about 2 months, as a result of a non-work related incident lifting her lawn mower into her car.  His diagnosis was DeQuervain’s tenosynovitis for which he provided a thumb Spica splint.  He discussed referral to an orthopedist for possible injection but she preferred to try conservative treatment first.
  On August 7, 2007, she reported to Louis E. Mayer, M.D., that she was still having problems with the right wrist.  He reported a new contusion at the base of her right thumb from dropping a can on her thumb and he referred her to Leslie Dean, M.D.
  Dr. Dean saw her on August 9, 2007, and recommended that Ms. Preziose wear an Orthoplast thumb spica splint while sleeping and continue to wear a softer thumb spica splint during the day to ensure there was no untoward pressure on the radial styloid.  If that did not work, then injections and possibly surgery would be needed. 
  On September 17, 2007, Dr. Dean noted the Employee reported her wrist was better. The first injection was done on August 9, 2007, and the employee reported she was seeing a rolfer.  She did not like the splints given to her and while her wrist was still uncomfortable she did not want surgery.  Dr. Dean's recommendation was to proceed with surgery if the injection did not help.

Michael G. McNamara, M.D., a hand surgeon, first saw the employee on October 25, 2007, on self-referral, for evaluation and treatment of the right wrist pain.  She had previously seen Dr. Dean but disagreed with the doctor’s suggestion for surgery.  The employee had been treating at Alaska Hand Rehab and was feeling somewhat better.  Dr. McNamara’s assessment was right posttraumatic deQuervain’s, which was slowly improving.  He recommended another six (6) weeks of physical therapy including iontophoresis.  He also reported she was having left thumb triggering for about a month and a half, which she thought was related to her work.  His assessment was left thumb stenosing tenosynovitis.
  

Charles N. Brooks, M.D., saw the employee on January 31, 2008, at the request of the employer for evaluation of the left trigger thumb.  She reported to him a gradual onset of stiffening of the left thumb starting in August 2007.  She underwent physical therapy after seeking medical treatment in October, 2007, but the thumb continued to cause her problems.  Dr. Brooks diagnosed left trigger thumb but related it to the lawn mower lifting incident in May and to what he believed from her statements to be significant summer gardening activities.  Surgery was appropriate and she was not yet medically stable so a PPI rating was premature.  He opined the work was definitely not the cause since she had been a dental hygienist for several years.  He stated medical literature indicates trigger thumb is more likely to develop soon after the start of work as a hygienist and not after several years, which he understood to be her case.
  

Dr. McNamara, on February 8, 2008, performed left thumb A-1 Pulley Release with a post-operative diagnosis of left thumb locking trigger.
  The employee began physical therapy following surgery at Alaska Hand Rehabilitation, with an initial evaluation on February 19, 2008.  The focus was on recovery from the left trigger surgery. 
  However, she also reported she now had triggering in her right thumb with clicking but no locking.  She continued using the transdermal anti-inflammatories.  She reported triggering again on February 21, 26 and 28, 2008.
  

Dr. McNamara saw the employee seven weeks after the left thumb A-1 Pulley Release and stated she was doing well.  He also observed her right thumb had begun to trigger and noted she had an injection on her last visit on March 7, 2008.  However, this injection did not improve her thumb and she could not flex it at all.  His diagnoses were left thumb A-1 Pulley Release doing well; right thumb locked trigger.  He recommended a right thumb A-1 Pulley Release.  He opined it was Employee’s work as a dental hygienist since 1974 that more likely than not was the cause of her trigger thumbs, since she did not have diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis or any other process that cause trigger thumbs.
 
At the request of the Employer, the Employee was seen again by Dr. Brooks on April 25, 2008, whose impression was bilateral trigger thumbs, probably due to stenosing tenosynovitis, resolved, and status post left surgical release.  Dr. Brooks opined that while her work activities could possibly have caused her trigger thumbs, they probably did not do so in her case.  Rather, he noted Employee had worked for many years as a dental hygienist and the literature states that trigger thumb is more likely to develop early in one’s profession than after many years.  Therefore, in his opinion the more likely cause was the stenosing tenosynovitis in her right wrist, which she developed in the summer of 2007, most probably from her gardening activities.  Dr. Brooks indicated Employee was not medically stable from the right thumb but was stable from the left trigger thumb with no PPI.

Dr. McNamara performed right thumb A-1 pulley release on May 9, 2008.  His post-operative diagnosis was right thumb trigger.
  He released Employee to return to work without restrictions as of June 6, 2008.
  On June 5, 2008, the Employee reported to Dr. McNamara’s Physician Assistant she was doing well and had no major complaints.
  The P.A. reported she had full range of motion, no crepitus, and no pain with motion.

On September 9, 2008, Christopher S. Wilson, M.D., SIME physician, stated both the right and left trigger thumbs were related to her work as a dental hygienist with the employer.  Moreover, he opined her work activities were the substantial cause for both the right and left A-1 Pulley Releases.  He also agreed Employee had no PPI in either thumb because she had full range of motion and normal strength in both thumbs. 
  Dr. Wilson further agreed with Dr. McNamara’s opinion the employee was medically stable as of June 6, 2008.
 

III. Summary of Testimony 

A.  Cecilia Preziose

The employee testified at hearing about her training and work experience as a dental hygienist.  She received her degree from Columbia University and came to Alaska in 1990 or 1991.  She is a licensed dental hygienist although she has not always worked as a dental hygienist in Alaska.  She worked for Anchorage Neighborhood Health Center and worked part-time at Hiland Correctional Facility and Alaska Psychiatric Institute (“API”).  While working at Anchorage Neightborhood Health Center, she fell and injured her shoulder.  She did not work as a dental hygienist while recovering from surgery in December 2005 for that injury.  She did continue to work part-time at API doing more administrative work than dental hygiene.  She was released to work on May 15, 2006, and was hired by the employer on May 19, 2006.  She began full-time work with the employer as a dental hygienist in September or October 2006.  She worked for the employer until May 2008, except for the weeks recovering from the thumb surgeries.  ,She has continued to work part-time at API, even during her recovery from her thumb surgeries, because much of her work there is more dental health or administrative and is not actual dental hygiene work.  She works at API about 4 hours a week.  

The employee testified she was off work most of 2005 and half of 2006 due to the shoulder injury and rotator cuff surgery.  She earned $28,512.00 in 2006 from her work with the employer, starting in May 2006.  For all her dental hygiene work she is paid by the hour.  Her actual hourly rate varies depending on whether she is doing dental hygiene work or dental health/administrative work.  In 2007, her first year working full-time as a dental hygienist, she grossed $65,307 which included wages from both the employer and API. 

The employee testified at hearing regarding her thumb injuries.  She reported having non-work related problems in the summer of 2007 with her right wrist for which she wore a wrist brace at work.  Around August 2007 she noticed her left thumb was triggering and she reported this to Dr. McNamara, on October 25, 2007.  She also said she treated it on her own, thinking it would improve.  She agreed she discussed in October with Dr. McNamara that her trigger thumb was work related.  She also reported the thumb problem to her employer when she returned to work following her appointment on October 25, 2007.  She stated she had a work related shoulder injury in January 2003 as a result of a fall and had filed a workers’ compensation claim as a result of that injury.  She understood she had a duty to report her workers’ compensation injury.

The employee testified Ms. Knight saw her every day at work, was aware she wore the thumb splint, and was aware she took time out of the work day to attend physical therapy in October and November.  She did not file a Report of Injury (“ROI”) until January 20, 2008, in part, because she thought the employer would provide her with the necessary form.  She further testified when she first approached Ms. Knight about her left trigger thumb, following the October visit with Dr. McNamara, Ms. Knight told her if she needed surgery it would not go well.  The employee also testified she provided Ms. Knight with a copy of the appointment schedule for physical therapy for the left thumb because she needed authorization to attend during the work day.  She also testified that she eventually did get the Report of Injury form from her employer which is the form she sent to Juneau in January 2008.  

The employee also testified that she reported to her physical therapist in early February 2008 that now her right thumb was triggering.  

B. Charles Nelson Brooks, M.D.

In his initial reports, Dr. Brooks opined the employee’s left trigger thumb was not work related based on his understanding she had been doing a lot of gardening when she first had an onset of symptoms.  He also relied on the medical history indicating she had been a dental hygienist since she was 15 years old.  At hearing Dr. Brooks revised the basis for his opinion, while not changing the opinion itself.  Dr. Brooks stated he had been provided with additional medical records, which led him to conclude his earlier opinion that gardening was the cause of her complaints was in error. He testified he had recently received additional medical records, including the depositions of the Employee, her treating physician Dr McNamara, and the SIME physician Dr. Wilson.  Based on this additional information, he revised the basis for his opinion that her trigger thumbs were not work related but not his ultimate conclusion.  He stated the trigger thumbs were not caused by her work for the employer because her trigger thumbs were the direct result of the right wrist and thumb problems she developed in May 2007.  He opined the prolonged use of the right wrist splint over the summer of 2007 provoked overuse of the left thumb leading to the left thumb triggering.  The subsequent splinting of the left thumb and surgery, led likewise to an overuse of the right thumb leading directly to surgery for the right thumb.  He agreed his first analysis that extensive gardening led to the trigger thumbs was in error although based on his understanding as to how she injured her right wrist in May 2007.  

His new analysis that her trigger thumbs were not work related was based on the temporality of injury and the onset of trigger thumb complaints.  He testified when she injured her wrist in May 2007, her wrist and thumb were fully immobilized and the splint allowed for no motion.  This increased the pressure on her left hand, specifically, her left thumb, leading directly to her left thumb trigging problems in August 2007.  She had surgery on the left thumb in February 2008, and again her left, dominant hand was immobilized.  She almost instantly developed right trigger thumb, which Dr. Brooks related to the overuse of the right hand while she was recovering from her left thumb problems.  Dr. Brooks ruled out work as the substantial cause of her thumb problems and he provided an alternative explanation for the onset of both the right and left trigger thumb problems.
C.Janice Knight, Family Medical & Dental Clinic, Executive Director.

At hearing, Ms. Knight testified the employee was hired in May 2006 as a dental hygienist and her pay was based on the number of patients she saw.  She was paid $38.00 an hour when working on a patient.  She agreed she saw the employee every day and was aware of her right wrist problems in the summer of 2007.  She knew the employee had worked at API for about 14 years, in addition to her work for the employer.  The employee was laid off in May 2008 because she could not work as a dental hygienist and the employer needed a full-time hygienist and could not find one to fill-in for a short term.

Ms. Knight was adamant her first knowledge of the possibility of the employee’s assertion of a work injury to her left thumb was when she received the ROI in the mail from AWCB in January 2008.  She stressed that prior to receiving the ROI in the mail she had no knowledge that the employee related her left trigger thumb to work.  She admitted she had seen the employee wearing a splint at work but thought it related only to the summer injury.  

She also testified she knew the employee worked as a dental hygienist for more than one employer and had done so for several years.  Therefore, she did not believe that the Employee’s work for the employer could be the primary cause of the trigger thumbs. 

Ms. Knight also testified she first learned of the right thumb problem after the employee returned to work in March following the left thumb surgery.  She stated that the employee mentioned the right thumb four days after returning to work following her left thumb surgery.  Again she did not see how the employee could have injured her right thumb at work when she had been off work for several weeks recovering from left thumb surgery.  She also testified that the employee knew that workers’ compensation forms were kept in the employer’s office to which the employee had access.  

D.Michael McNamara, M.D., Treating Physician, by Deposition

Dr. McNamara testified in deposition it was his opinion “her work as a dental hygienist since 1994 and because of her intricate retraction of pushing and pulling activities that she has to do with her hands, that if it's more likely that her triggers were related to the type of work she was doing than any other medical problems."
 When asked again he repeated, “ I believe that the work she does as a dental hygienist is a very high risk for this diagnosis, and based on that, I’ve decided it was related to her work."
  He further added her work was the substantial factor in the need for surgery based on “the fact that she has a long history of working as a dental hygienist, I think this is a very fair and appropriate explanation of her cause and etiology."
  Dr. McNamara added that while she had been working as a dental hygienist for several decades, he was more concerned with her recent period of time than any earlier work history.

E.Christopher M.Wilson, M.D., SIME Physician, by Deposition

Dr. Wilson, defining triggering, stated it “most often happens gradually over time. It is related to activities that people are doing with their hands on a daily basis, so it is considered an activity-related problem.  There are situations that happen acutely after a traumatic injury of some sort.  There are patients who develop flexor tendonitis and triggering associated with some medical conditions."
  He stated she was working full-time as a dental hygienist, which she had done for many years.  “So it was my opinion, without any of the medical conditions mentioned previously and without any, what I refer to as hand intensive activities outside of work, which I did ask about, that the work activities as a dental hygienist were the primary cause of her flexor tendonitis and triggering."
  When asked about activities outside of work, he stated the primary factor in causing trigger thumb is the amount of time per day that a person spends doing the activities with their hands.  He ruled out gardening as a factor since she was not a professional landscaper.

Dr. Wilson added that triggering “can develop at any time, and for some patients the onset of symptoms is sudden. But for somebody who is doing the same type of work activities for many, many years, the onset of symptoms from flexor tendonitis or triggering can be soon after they began working at that particular job or can be many years later."


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.THE PRESUMPTION OF COMPENSABILITY 

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides, in part, as follows:

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

(2) sufficient notice of the claim has been given;

(3) the injury was not proximately caused by the intoxication of the injured employee or proximately caused by the employee being under the influence of drugs unless the drugs were taken as prescribed by the employee’s physician; 

(4) the injury was not occasioned by willful intention of the injured employee to injure or kill self or another;

The Alaska Supreme Court has held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits she seeks are compensable.
  

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and her employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 


(1)  produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if 
accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 



(2)  directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in 
the disability.

"Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board must look at the employer’s evidence in isolation, with no regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Therefore, the Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

 The Alaska Supreme Court has consistently stated that “it has always been possible to rebut the presumptions of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  The court continued that “such testimony is affirmative evidence that an injury is not work connected.”

In Childs v Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, the court also stated “if medical experts have ruled out work-related causes for an employee’s injury, then Wolfer and Grainger do not require these experts to offer alternative explanations.”
   

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, bringing us to the third step of the presumption analysis, which provides the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the Board that the asserted facts are probably true.
   

If there is a delay in giving notice, the statute at AS 23.30.120(d) provides that the delay in giving notice may be excused by the board under AS 23.30.100(d)(2).  The burden of proof of the validity of the claim then shifts to the employee, notwithstanding the provisions of 
AS 23.30.120(a).  AS 23.30.100 provides that notice must be given to the board and the employer within 30 days after the injury or death occurred.  However, under AS 23.30.100(d)(2), failure to give notice does not bar a claim if the Board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given or determines the employer had actual notice.  

The Board must first address whether the Employee was late in providing notice of work injuries to her Employer.  If the notices were late but the Employer had actual knowledge of Employee’s injuries, then the presumption attaches and the questions then are whether the EME reports by Dr.  Brooks are substantial evidence for purposes of overcoming the presumption, and whether the Employee is able to prove her claims by a preponderance of the evidence.  If the Employer did not have actual knowledge, then the Board must address whether the Employee’s late notices should be excused and if so, then the Employee loses the presumption of compensability and must go directly to proving her claims by a preponderance of the evidence.

II. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN AS 23.30.100.

A. The Employee Did Not Provide Timely Notice of Injury.

The Employer asserts that the Employee’s claims against it are barred by operation of 
AS 23.30.100.  The Employee contends the defense was not timely raised and, further, her Employer had actual knowledge of her injuries.

AS 23.30.100 provides:


Notice of injury or death.


(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer.

[image: image1](b) The notice must be in writing, contain the name and address of the employee, a statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of the injury or death, and authority to release records of medical treatment for the injury or death, and be signed by the employee or by a person on behalf of the employee, or, in case of death, by a person claiming to be entitled to compensation for the death or by a person on behalf of that person.

[image: image2](c) Notice shall be given to the board by delivering it or sending it by mail addressed to the board's office, and to the employer by delivering it to the employer or by sending it by mail addressed to the employer at the employer's last known place of business. If the employer is a partnership, the notice may be given to a partner, or if a corporation, the notice may be given to an agent or officer upon whom legal process may be served or who is in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred.

The statutory exceptions for the 30-day notice requirement are set forth in AS 23.30.100(d), which provides:

[image: image3](d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter

[image: image4]
(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice;

[image: image5]
(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given;

[image: image6]
(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death.

In Cogger v. Anchor House,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held:

An employee must provide formal written notice to his or her employer within thirty days of an injury in order to be eligible for workers' compensation under 
AS 23.30.100. For reasons of fairness and based on the general excuse in 
AS 23.30.100(d)(2), this court has read a "reasonableness" standard, analogous to the "discovery rule" for statutes of limitations, into the statute.
  Under this standard, the thirty-day period begins when "by reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury has been sustained."
 . . .  Under Sullivan, the thirty-day period begins to run when the worker could reasonably discover an injury's compensability.
  The exact date when an employee could reasonably discover compensability is often difficult to determine, and missing the short thirty-day limitation period bars a claim absolutely.  For reasons of clarity and fairness, we hold that the thirty-day period can begin no earlier than when a compensable event first occurs.  However, it is not necessary that a claimant fully diagnose his or her injury for the thirty-day period to begin.

The Board finds substantial evidence the Employee did not provide timely notice to her Employer of either her 2007 or her 2008 injury.  Based on the evidence in the record and the testimony at hearing, the Board finds the Employee did not timely file a Report of Injury for her left trigger thumb.  She believed as early as October 25, 2007, that the left trigger thumb was work related.
  She testified at hearing that pinching the dental tools with her left thumb required great strength and endurance.  Nonetheless, she did not file a Report of Injury for the left thumb until January 20, 2008.  This was approximately two and one-half months after her knowledge of the left trigger thumb and its relation to her employment and exceeded the 30 days permitted by statute.  

Likewise, the evidence before the Board is that the Employee did not timely notify her employer her right trigger thumb was also a work related condition.  Based on the evidence in the record and testimony at hearing, the Board further finds the Employee did not timely notify her Employer her right trigger thumb was related to her work.  We find the Employee began complaining of right trigger thumb while she was off work recovering from her left A-1 Pulley Release.  The physical therapy reports for February 19 through February 28, 2008, contain reports from the employee she was having problems with her right thumb.  The employee had surgery on her left thumb on February 8, 2008, and returned to work on March 10, 2008.  Nonetheless, the employee did not file a Report of Injury for the right thumb until April 2, 2008, with a reported injury date of February 1, 2008.  This new ROI was filed more than 30 days after the knowledge of her right thumb problem and its relationship to her work. 

Ms. Knight testified she first learned of the right thumb problems after the Employee returned to work in March following the left thumb surgery.  The Board finds the Employee to be an intelligent, well-educated claimant with previous workers’ compensation experience.  She provided no valid reason for her failure to file timely reports of injury for both her right and left trigger thumbs.  

B. The Employer Timely Raised the Statute of Limitations Defense.

Under AS 23.30.100, an employer who intends to assert the defense a report of injury was not filed within 30 days must raise the objection to the claim “before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death.”
  The Board finds the Employer timely raised the statute of limitations defense prior to and at the first prehearing in the left thumb claim as required by statute.
  The Employer first asserted the statute of limitations defense in its Amended Answer to the Employee’s first WCC for the left thumb on April 3, 2008, and in its Controversion dated April 3, 2008.
  It raised the defenses again at the first prehearing in this case on April 28, 2008, as noted in the PreHearing Conference Summary.
  The Employer again asserted its statute of limitations defense in its Answer dated May 14, 2008, to the Employee’s Amended WCC for the right thumb , and in its June 16, 2008 controversion.
  These Answers and Controversions were listed as the Employer’s defenses on the Prehearing Conference Summary for the conference on December 1, 2008.
  This is the last PreHearing Conference Summary prior to the hearing and identified the claims and defenses for hearing.  The Employee was or should have been aware the Employer was asserting a statute of limitations defense under AS 23.30.100, and was properly put on notice prior to and at the first prehearing in these claims. 

C. The Employer Had Actual Notice of the Employee’s Injuries.

When, as in this case, we find an employee has not notified the employer of an injury in accordance with AS 23.30.100, the employee’s claim may be barred unless the provisions of 
AS 23.30.100(d) have been met.  The presumption applies to the timeliness of notice.
  Under AS 23.30.100, for notice to be timely, it must be given within 30 days of the injury.  A claim will not be barred for failure to give timely notice, however, if the employer was aware of the injury and the Board determines the employer was not prejudiced by the failure to give such notice.
 

The Employee reported to Dr. McNamara, on October 25, 2007, she had been having left trigger thumb problems since August but treated it on her own, thinking it would improve.  
Dr. McNamara reported the Employee related the trigger thumb to work and he referred her to physical therapy, which she attended in the afternoons from October 26, 2007 through December 6, 2007.
  Even though she knew and believed, at least in October, her trigger thumb was work related she did not file a Report of Injury (“ROI”) until January 20, 2008, more than 30 days after her knowledge and belief. 
  Moreover, we find she is an intelligent individual who had a prior workers’ compensation claim and knew she had a duty to report timely a workers’ compensation injury.  The Employer controverted the injury on February 8, 2008, based on the Dr. Brooks’ opinion the thumb was not work related, and again April 3, 2008, based on the opinions of Dr. Brooks and the statute of limitations in AS 23.30.100.   

A similar scenario occurred with the report of the right trigger thumb.  The Employee reported to her physical therapist in early February 2008, following the left thumb surgery, her right thumb was triggering.  Again, she did not file a report of injury until April 2, 2008, more than 30 days after her knowledge of the right thumb problem.

At hearing the Employer testified adamantly her first knowledge of the possibility of the Employee’s assertion of a work injury was when she received the ROI in the mail from AWCB in January 2008.  She stressed that prior to receiving the ROI in the mail she had no knowledge that the Employee related her left trigger thumb to work.  She also testified she knew the Employee worked as a dental hygienist for more than one employer and had done so for several years.  Therefore, she did not believe that the Employee’s work for Family Medical & Dental Clinic could be the primary cause of the trigger thumbs. 

The Employee testified Ms. Knight saw her every day at work, was aware she wore the thumb splint, and was aware she took time out of the work day to attend physical therapy in October and November.  The Employee also testified she asked Ms. Knight for the ROI and the ROI she filed with the Board on January 20, 2008, was the one she obtained from Ms. Knight.  She further testified when she first approached Ms. Knight about her left trigger thumb, following the October visit with Dr. McNamara, Ms. Knight told her if she needed surgery it would not go well.  The Employee also testified she provided Ms. Knight with a copy of the appointment schedule for physical therapy for the left thumb because she needed authorization to attend during the work day.  

The Board finds that the testimony of the Employee is more credible with regard to the Employer’s notice of her trigger thumbs than the testimony of Ms. Knight.
  Therefore, the Board finds the Employer had actual notice of trigger thumb problems before the Employee filed her Reports of Injury.  

One reason for requiring timely written notice is that timely notice allows the “employer to provide immediate medical diagnosis and treatment to minimize the seriousness of the injury.”
  The second reason for the requirement is timely notice “facilitates the earliest possible investigation of the facts surrounding the injury.”
  To prove prejudice on this second basis, the employer must prove it was “hampered in making its investigation and preparing its case.”
  Prejudice in this category most frequently occurs because the employer learns of an injury too late to determine whether the injury is work-related.
  

In Kolkman v. Greens Creek Mining Co.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held even if the employee’s conduct is interpreted as having failed to give timely, formal written notice, the employee’s claim would not be barred by AS 23.30.100, because the employer had knowledge of the general, cumulative injury and was not prejudiced by the delay.  In Kolkman the Court disapproved the requirement which sprang from State v. Moore,
 that the employer must have knowledge of the work-relatedness of the injury.  The Court in Kolkman held the statute should be read literally to require only that the employer must have knowledge of the injury.  In Tinker v. VECO, Inc.,
 the Court clarified the employee must show the employer had actual knowledge, and suffered no prejudice which would thwart the two purposes of AS 23.30.100: early diagnosis and treatment, and early investigation.  

The Board finds, as stated above, that the Employer had actual notice of the left trigger thumb problem when Employee came to work wearing a thumb splint and also when the Employee took time off work to attend several physical therapy appointments.  The actual notice excuses the untimely written notice.  Similarly, Ms. Knight testified she was aware of the Employee’s right trigger thumb when the Employee returned to work in early March following the left trigger thumb surgery.  This actual knowledge also excuses the late written notice which the Employee did not provide until April 2008.  Under Kolkman and Cogger, an employer has an obligation to investigate when the employer becomes aware an employee has injuries in order to determine if the injuries are work related.  

Furthermore, the Board finds there was no prejudice to the Employer by the late notices of injury.  The timing from the dates of injury to surgery on each thumb and to the Employee’s release to return to work was very short.  Earlier notice to the Employer by the Employee that her trigger thumbs were work-related would not have given the Employer much additional time to schedule an EME.  As it happened, the Employer was able to have the employee examined by its EME physician Dr. Brooks on January 31, 2008, and again on April 25, 2008.  Both exams occurred close in proximity to her surgery dates, thus providing the EME physician with a nearly contemporaneous opportunity to examine the trigger thumbs.  Moreover, the dispute here is not whether the employee had trigger thumbs – all doctors agree with the diagnosis – but rather whether her work at Family Medical & Dental Clinic was the cause of the need for surgery.  Earlier Reports of Injury, while proper, would not have facilitated the investigation into causation.  Therefore, the Employer was not prejudiced by the Employee’s late Reports of Injury.  

D.  The Employer Overcame the Presumption of Compensability with Substantial Evidence.

The Employer relied on the reports by Dr. Brooks, to controvert the Employee’s claims for both thumbs.  At hearing the Employee moved for a finding that his reports were not substantial evidence based in part on Dr. Brooks’ change in the basis for his opinion that the employee’s trigger thumbs were not work related.  In his initial reports, Dr. Brooks based his opinion her left trigger thumb was not work related on his understanding she had been doing a lot of gardening when she first had an onset of symptoms.  He also relied on the medical history indicating she had been a dental hygienist since she was 15 years old.  At hearing Dr. Brooks revised the basis for his opinion, while not changing the opinion itself.  Dr. Brooks stated he had been provided with additional medical records, which led him to conclude his earlier opinion that gardening was the cause of her complaints was in error.  Rather, he opined the source of her thumb complaints related to her non-work related injury with a lawn mower in May 2007.  His analysis was based on the temporality of injury and the onset of trigger thumb complaints.  He testified when she injured her wrist in May 2007, her wrist and thumb were fully immobilized and the splint allowed for no motion.  This increased the pressure on her left thumb, leading directly to her left thumb trigging problems in August 2007.  She had surgery on the left thumb on February 8, 2008, and again her left, dominant hand was immobilized.  She almost instantly developed right trigger thumb, which Dr. Brooks related to the overuse of the right hand while she was recovering from her left thumb problems.  Dr. Brooks ruled out work as the substantial cause of her thumb problems and, in addition, he provided an alternative explanation for the onset of both the right and left trigger thumb problems. 

The Alaska Supreme Court has consistently stated that “it has always been possible to rebut the presumptions of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  The court continued that “such testimony is affirmative evidence that an injury is not work connected.”

In Childs v Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, the court also stated, “if medical experts have ruled out work-related causes for an employee’s injury, then Wolfer and Grainger do not require these experts to offer alternative explanations.”
   

Therefore, the reports of Dr. Brooks must be viewed in isolation to determine if they are sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability.
  He relied on extensive medical literature research, the facts of the case presented to him by the Employee, and the medical records at that time.  We find his two reports, when viewed in isolation, are sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability.  They are the kind of evidence a reasonable person would rely on in coming to a decision.  He ruled out work as the substantial cause of the employee’s trigger thumbs, after weighing all the possible causes, and, in addition, he provided an alternative explanation for her trigger thumbs.  

Furthermore, his testimony at hearing provided an alternative, reasonable and plausible explanation for the onset of the trigger thumbs at the time each thumb developed the problem.  He testified he had recently received additional medical records, including the depositions of the Employee, her treating physician Dr McNamara, and the SIME physician Dr. Wilson.  Based on this additional information, he revised the basis for his opinion that her trigger thumbs were not work related but not his ultimate conclusion the trigger thumbs were not caused by her work at Family Medical & Dental Clinic.  After reviewing all the medical records (and Dr. Brooks is the only physician who seems to have undertaken a thorough review of the medical records) he came to the conclusion Employee’s trigger thumbs were the direct result of the right wrist and thumb problems the Employee developed in May 2007.  He opined the prolonged use of the right wrist splint over the summer of 2007 provoked overuse of the left thumb leading to the left thumb triggering.  The subsequent splinting of the left thumb and surgery, led likewise to an overuse of the right thumb leading directly to surgery for the right thumb.  He agreed his first analysis that extensive gardening led to the trigger thumbs was in error although based on his understanding as to how she injured her right wrist in May 2007.  Thus, Dr. Brooks’ reports, when viewed in isolation, are substantial evidence that the Employee’s trigger thumbs were not substantially caused by her work at Family Medical & Dental Center and his reports are sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability.  

III. TIME LOSS AND MEDICAL BENEFITS.

Employees injured on the job are entitled under the Act to “medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature the injury or the process of recovery requires….”
  Moreover, if the employee is unable to work due to the work injury the employee may be entitled to time loss benefits.  “In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.”

Once the employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption for the claimed benefits drops out, and the employee must then prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence, as noted above.  The Board finds the Employee proved by a preponderance of the evidence her left and right trigger thumb conditions were the result of her employment with the Employer.  The evidence in support of the Employee’s position is her own testimony along with the medical evidence from her treating physician Dr. McNamara and the SIME physician Dr. Wilson.

The Board finds that the Employee was credible as to the amount of dental hygiene work she was performing before her employment with the Employer and during her employment there.  She testified that for several years prior to her full-time dental hygiene practice at Family Medical & Dental Clinic she had not worked, other than sporadically, as a dental hygienist due to a previous shoulder injury and the nature of work in Alaska.  

Both the treating doctor and the SIME physician testified in deposition that the incidence of trigger thumbs is high for dental hygienists.  Dr. McNamara testified in deposition it was his opinion “her work as a dental hygienist since 1994 and because of her intricate retraction of pushing and pulling activities that she has to do with her hands, that if it's more likely that her triggers were related to the type of work she was doing than any other medical problems."
 When asked again he repeated, “ I believe that the work she does as a dental hygienist is a very high risk for this diagnosis, and based on that, I’ve decided it was related to her work."
  He further added her work was the substantial factor in the need for surgery based on “the fact that she has a long history of working as a dental hygienist, I think this is a very fair and appropriate explanation of her cause and ideology."
  Dr. McNamara added that while she had been working as a dental hygienist for several decades, he was more concerned with her recent period of time than any earlier work history.

Dr. Wilson, in deposition, stated triggering “most often happens gradually over time. It is related to activities that people are doing with their hands on a daily basis, so it is considered an activity-related problem.  There are situations that happen acutely after a traumatic injury of some sort.  There are patients who develop flexor tendonitis and triggering associated with some medical conditions."
  He stated she was working full-time as a dental hygienist, which she had done for many years.  “So it was my opinion, without any of the medical conditions mentioned previously and without any, what I refer to as hand intensive activities outside of work, which I did ask about, that the work activities as a dental hygienist were the primary cause of her flexor tendonitis and triggering."
  When asked about activities outside of work, he stated the primary factor in causing trigger thumb is the amount of time per day that a person spends doing the activities with their hands.  He ruled out gardening as a factor since she was not a professional landscaper.

Dr. Wilson added that triggering “can develop at any time, and for some patients the onset of symptoms is sudden. But for somebody who is doing the same type of work activities for many, many years, the onset of symptoms from flexor tendonitis or triggering can be soon after they began working at that particular job or can be many years later."

Both Dr. McNamara and Dr. Wilson are Board Certified Hand Specialists who limit their practices to hand and upper extremity surgery.
  The Board finds their testimony regarding the cause of the Employee’s left and right trigger thumb to be credible and persuasive.  They both agreed that her work for the Employer was the cause of her trigger thumbs and the need for surgery.  

Moreover, although Dr. Brooks disagreed her work was the cause of the Employee’s trigger thumbs, he stated most trigger thumb conditions occur early in a dental hygiene career.  His opinion and testimony supports the Employee’s contention that it was her work with the Employer that prompted the trigger thumb condition because she testified she had taken a long break from full-time work as a dental hygienist due to her shoulder injury and her work preferences.  
Therefore, the Board finds the Employee has proven by the preponderance of the evidence that her work with the Employer was the cause of her left and right trigger thumbs and the need for surgery on each.  The Employee is seeking temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from February 8, 2008, through March 10, 2008, for her left trigger thumb and from May 9, 2008, through June 6, 2008, for the right trigger thumb.  She also seeks payment for the medical treatment including physical therapy related to the surgery for both thumbs.  The evidence in the record and as presented at hearing supports that both her time loss and her medical treatment are work-related benefits to which she is entitled.  

IV.   COMPENSATION RATE ADJUSTMENT

The Board finds that the Employee was injured at work on August 1, 2007, and again on February 1, 2008.  Based upon the Employee’s testimony, we find the Employee was paid on an hourly basis.  For workers paid on an hourly basis, AS 23.30.220(a)(4), effective November 7, 2005, provides, in relevant part:

Determination of spendable weekly wage. (a) Computation of compensation under this chapter shall be on the basis of an employee’s spendable weekly wage at the time of injury. An employee’s spendable weekly wage is the employee’s gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions. An employee’s gross weekly earnings shall be calculated as follows:

. . .

(4) if at the time of injury the employee’s earnings are calculated by the day, by the hour, or by the output of the employee, then the employee’s gross weekly earnings are 1/50 of the total wages that the employee earned from all occupations during either of the two calendar years immediately preceding the injury, whichever is most favorable to the employee;

. . . 

The Alaska Supreme Court has consistently held that a primary purpose of the various historical versions of our workers’ compensation law is to provide compensation calculated from an accurate prediction of what an injured worker's earnings would have been but for the worker’s injury.
  In Justice v. RMH Aero Logging, Inc., the Court, discussing a previous version of the statute, held that where past wage levels are an accurate predictor of losses due to injury, the Board must apply the statutory formula unless there is substantial evidence that past wage levels will lead to an irrational award. 
 

In Gilmore v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court declared a former version of AS 23.30.220 to be in violation of the equal protection clause of the Alaska Constitution, as applied in that case, because the formula would result in substantially different compensation rates for similarly situated claimants.
  In 1995, the legislature rewrote AS 23.30.220 in response to the Court’s decision in Gilmore, creating several options for calculating compensation rates for injured workers.  In Dougan v. Aurora Electric Inc., the Alaska Supreme Court noted:  

The holding in Gilmore is largely based on the fact that wage determinations under the prior version of the statute based compensation rates exclusively on the average wage earned during a period of over a year without providing an alternate approach if the result was unfair.  The amended version of AS 23.30.220 corrects that problem by providing a variety of formulas for differing employment situations.  The board correctly applied the new version of AS 23.30.220(a) when it initially calculated Dougans [sic] compensation rate.  The amended statute closely follows the model law cited in Gilmore as an example of a statute that would not violate the Equal Protection Clause. 

Reading Dougan and Justice together, the Alaska Supreme Court, in Flowline v. Brennan, held the Board must apply the provision of AS 23.30.220 that most closely fits the earnings fact-pattern in any given claim.
 The parties must provide substantial evidence that applying the statutory formula does not rationally predict earning losses due to injury.
 

In the instant case, the Employee has requested a compensation rate adjustment for her 2007 trigger thumb, asserting her compensation rate as calculated under AS 23.30.220(a)(4) does not accurately reflect her demonstrated earnings at the time of her injury.  The Employee points out that in 2005 and 2006 she was off work most of each year due to her shoulder injury and rotator cuff surgery.  In 2006, her gross earnings were $28,512.00, because she did not return to work until May19, 2006, when she went to work as a dental hygienist with Family Medical & Dental Clinic.
  She admits she was paid on an hourly basis.
  Nonetheless, she contends her gross earnings in 2006 were not an accurate predictor of her earnings capacity into the period of her disability.  As further evidence of this, she directs attention to the fact her gross earnings in 2007 were $65,307.
  For the left trigger thumb injury in 2007, the employee, under AS 23.30.220(a)(4) had a gross weekly wage (“GWW”) of $570.24 (Gross income of $28,512 divided by 50 weeks equals $570.24).  This GWW gives her a weekly compensation rate of $372.44 based on the 2007 Rate Tables for a single person with one dependent.
  However, for the right trigger thumb in 2008, she had a GWW of $1,306.14 (gross earnings of $65,307 divided by 50 equals $1306.14).  This higher GWW also gives her the substantially higher weekly compensation rate of $781.37 for the 2008 trigger thumb.
  She contends this disparity is prima facie evidence that AS 23.30.220(a)(4) as applied to her in 2007 is unfair, inequitable, irrational, and unconstitutional.  

The Employer, on the other hand, asserts the Employee earned her wages on an hourly basis and the Board is required to apply the provisions of AS 23.30.220 that most closely fit the employee’s earning fact pattern.  The Employer argues the proper calculation of the  Employee’s compensation rate is derived from application of the statutory formula of AS 23.30.220(a)(4), even if this results in two significantly different rates for the same kind of injury each occurring only several months apart. 

Based upon the directive from the Alaska Supreme Court, in considering the various provisions of AS 23.30.220, we find the provision of AS 23.30.220 that most closely fits the Employee’s earnings fact-pattern in the instant matter is AS 23.30.220(a)(4).  We find the Employee’s earnings with the Employer were calculated on an hourly basis and AS 23.30.220(a)(4) is the provision that most accurately fits the Employee’s earning fact pattern.  Therefore, we find this is the statutory basis for determining the Employee’s weekly compensation rate for the 2007 and the 2008 injuries.

In the instant matter, however, the Board is persuaded by the Employee’s arguments that a compensation rate based on her earnings in either of the two past calendar years does not accurately reflect her earnings at the time of her disability for her 2007 work injury.  The Board has considered similar arguments from other claimants.
  Here, we find the Employee had a significantly higher course of earnings at the time of her injury in August 2007, than in either 2005 or 2006.  Further, we note that while the Employee’s compensation rate as calculated under the statutory formula of AS 23.30.220(a)(4), may not be an accurate prediction of the her potential earnings during her period of disability, the Board is bound by the statute and finds that her compensation rate was correctly calculated. 

The Employee suggests application of AS 23.30.220 is unconstitutional as applied to the 2007 injury.
  The Board does not have jurisdiction to make a determination regarding the constitutionality of the statute. 
  The Employee also contends that the Board has authority under AS 23.30.001 to deviate from the statutory scheme in order to fashion a more equitable compensation rate for the 2007 trigger thumb.  It is her contention that the language in the Act requiring it to “be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity ...” provides the Board with the authority to formulate a different method for calculating her compensation rate.
  However, despite the employee’s arguments, we find the statute does not envision and does not allow for alternative methods, even if the statutory method should prove unfair.  In fact, adoption by the Board of any such alternate calculation would ultimately defeat the mandate that indemnity benefits be paid quickly, efficiently, and predictably as alternative and arguably arbitrary methods would only increase the amount of litigation over compensation rates.  Moreover, here, the inequity of the Employee’s compensation rate is visible only in hindsight, due solely to the impact of the Employee having a second injury within several months of the first injury.  Standing alone, the Employee’s 2007 compensation rate would appear adequate given her sporadic earnings in the previous years.
  Therefore, the Board finds we are without jurisdiction to determine the Employee’s demonstrated earning history is not reflected in the statutory application of AS 23.30.220(a)(4).  We conclude we must deny the Employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment.

V.  UNFAIR AND FRIVOLOUS CONTROVERSION

The Alaska Supreme Court in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc. (“Harp”),
 held although the employer timely controverted the employee’s TTD benefits, its controversion was not based on sufficient evidence to avoid a penalty.  There the employee claimed the employer had no valid reason to controvert her claim to TTD benefits and was, therefore, subject to the penalty imposed under the former AS 23.30.155(e).  The court noted AS 23.30.155 provides for an imposition of a penalty on an employer who does not pay benefits due an employee without first timely controverting the claim.  The court relied on its prior decision in Stafford v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co of New York,
 and found a controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.  In Harp, the court found the controversion which relied on a statement by her treating doctor that he did not understand what was going was insufficient.  The court noted that the doctor previously found the injury work related and held that the doctor was not questioning the work-relatedness with his comment.  Rather he was referring only to the “specific internal source of her pain.”  Thus, the controversion was deficient.  Since the controversion was not supported by sufficient evidence, it was made in bad faith, and was invalid.  Therefore, a penalty was required under AS 23.30.155.

We have applied the Court's reasoning from Harp to our decisions concerning all sections of 
AS 23.30.155, and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).
  We consistently require an employer or insurer to have specific, substantial evidence on which to base a controversion. 

 We find the employer’s Controversions dated March 19, 2008 and April 3, 2008, based on the January 31, 2008, EME of Dr. Brooks, and the Controversions dated April 3, 2008, and May 1, 2008, based on the April 25, 2008, EME by Dr. Brooks, provide sufficient and substantial evidence that the claimant’s condition at the time of each EME report was not related to her work.  Dr. Brooks, who is a credible and thorough physician in his analyses, at the time of each examination and again at hearing, provided a reasoned and medically sound explanation for the trigger thumbs that eliminated work as a reasonable possibility in causing the employee’s condition.  Thus, we find the controversions were made in good faith.  Accordingly, we do not find these controversions were frivolous and unfair, under 8 AAC 45.182.  Since we find the controversions were made in good faith and based on evidence available at the time of the EME examinations, we conclude the Employee is not entitled to a penalty on any unpaid time loss or medical benefits.

VI. INTEREST

AS 23.30.155 provided, at the time of the claimant’s injury, in pertinent part:

(a) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid....

 (p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 provided, at the time of the claimant’s injury:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in ….AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

In the instant case, while the Employer had knowledge of the claimant’s left trigger thumb injury earlier, the Employer was definitely on notice no later than January 20, 2008, when the Employee filed her Report of Injury.  The claimant’s treating physician took her off work to recover from the left trigger finger surgery from February 8 through March 10, 2008.  Therefore, we find the first payment of TTD was due 14 days after February 8, 2008.  Payment should have been made no later than February 28, 2008.  Therefore, interest begins to accrue as of February 28, 2008 for the left trigger thumb.

For the right trigger thumb, the Employer was on notice of the claim by April 4, 2008, the date of the Report of Injury.  The Employee was restricted from working from May 9, 2008, through June 6, 2008, for the surgery on the right thumb.  TTD for that surgery was due 14 days after May 9, 2008, and payment should have been made by May 29, 2008.  Interest on TTD for the right thumb began to accrue as of May 29, 2008.  

Therefore, we find the claimant is entitled to interest on all TTD benefits through date of payment per this Decision & Order.  We will order the employer to pay the claimant interest on all of the TTD benefits.

VII. ATTORNEY’S FEES   

The Board may award attorney’s fees under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act when the Employee has prevailed on some or all of her claim for benefits.  AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Under the regulations to the Act, an Employee’s attorney will be awarded fees only if application is made to the Board at least three (3) days prior to hearing.
  The Employee through her attorney timely filed a request for actual attorney’s fees and properly supplemented this request at hearing with the additional time spent in preparation for and time at hearing.

Here, the Employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court has stated  

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails."
 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.

Based on our review of the record, we find the Employer controverted the Employee’s claim, and the Employee’s attorney has successfully obtained some benefits for the Employee.  Specifically, we find the Employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the Employee’s entitlement to some benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation at 
8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The attorney’s affidavit of fees as supplemented by oral testimony at hearing itemized the following:  1) 62.6 hours of attorney time at $325.00 per hour, totaling $20,345.00; 2) 45.4 hours of paralegal time at $125.00 per hour, for a total of $5,675.00; and costs of $1,483.89.   Total costs, including paralegal fees, total $7,158.89.

We note the claimed hourly rate of $325.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We found the Employee counsel’s arguments at hearing of benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  Further , the employer made no specific objections to the employee’s claimed attorney fees or costs.  We will award actual attorney fees at the rate of $325.00 per hour, paralegal fees at $125.00 per hour.  However, due to the fact the Employee did not prevail on the issue of the compensation rate adjustment, we shall reduce the attorney’s fees by 15% (employee prevailed on issues of compensability, time loss and medical costs), which based on a review of the attorney’s fee affidavit is the approximate amount of time billed for the compensation rate issue.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the Employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees reasonable, as modified, for the successful prosecution of the Employee’s claim for benefits.  We shall award $17,293.25 as reasonable attorney’s fees and $7,158.89 in costs and paralegal fees.


ORDER

1. The Employee’s motion to strike the Employer’s AS 23.30.100 defense is denied. 

2. The Employer’s request to dismiss the Employee’s claim under AS 23.30.100 is denied.  

3.  The Employee’s claim for TTD/TPD related to the left thumb is granted.    Employer shall pay the Employee benefits for the period of 2/8/2008 through 3/10/2008, at the rate of $372.44, less offset for earnings, if any, from other employment during this period.  

4. The Employee’s claim for TTD/TPD related to the right thumb is granted.  The Employer shall pay the Employee benefits for the period of 5/9/2008, through 6/6/2008, at the rate of $781.37 less offset for earnings from other employment during this period.

5. Under AS 23.30.095, the Employee’s claim for medical costs related to the left trigger thumb surgery and the right trigger thumb surgery is granted and the Employer shall pay those costs pursuant to the requirements of the Act. 

6. The Employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment pursuant to AS 23.30.220 is denied and dismissed.

7. The Employee’s claim for interest is granted pursuant to AS 23.30.155 and the Employer shall pay interest to the Employee on the unpaid benefits awarded by this Order.

8. The Employee’s claim for a penalty is denied.

9. Under AS 23.30.145, the Employee’s attorney shall be paid a total of $17,293.25 for attorney’s fees and $7,158.89 for costs including paralegal fees.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on May 13, 2009.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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